
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS OF PHILADELPHIA
FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

TRIAL DIVISION – CIVIL

Gun Owners of America Inc.,Gun
Owners Foundation, Terrence Ledwell,
Laura Leonard-McBride, and
James Sandefur,

Plaintiff(s);

September Term, 2022
No.

vs.

City of Philadelphia, and
Mayor James F.Kenney,

Defendant(s).

COMPLAINT

NOTICE

You have been sued in court. If you wish to defend
against the claims set forth in the following pages,
you must take action within twenty (20) days after
the complaint and notice are served, by entering a
written appearance personally or by attorney and fil-
ing in writing with the court your defenses or objec-
tions to the claims set forth against you. You are
warned that if you fail to do so the case may pro-
ceed without you and a judgment may be entered
against you by the court without further notice for
any money claimed in the complaint or for any other
claim or relief requested by the plaintiff. You may
lose money or property or other rights important to
you.

You should take this paper to your lawyer at once. if you
do not have a lawyer or cannot afford one, go to or tele-
phone the office set forth below to find out where you can
get legal help.

PHILADELPHIA BAR ASSOCIATION
Lawyer Referral and Information Service

1101 Market Street, 11th Floor
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19107

(215) 238-1701

AVISO

Le han demandado a usted en la corte. Si usted
quiere defenderse de estas demandas expuestas en
las páginas siguientes, usted tiene veinte (20) dias de
plazo al partir de la fecha de la demanda y la notifi-
cación. Hace falta asentar una comparencia escrita
o en persona o con un abogado y entregar a la corte
en forma escrita sus defensas o sus objeciones a las
demandas en contra de su persona. Sea avisado que
si usted no se defiende, la corte tomará medidas y
puede continuar la demanda en contra suya sin pre-
vio aviso o notificación. Además, la corte puede de-
cidir a favor del demandante y requiere que usted
cumpla con todas las provisiones de esta demanda.
Usted puede perder dinero o sus propiedades u otros
derechos importantes para usted.

Lleve esta demanda a un abogado inmediatamente. si no
tiene abogado o si no tiene el dinero suficiente de pagar tal
servicio, vaya en persona o llame por telefono a la oficina
cuya direccion se encuentra escrita abajo para averiguar
donde se puede conseguir asistencia legal.

ASOCIACIÓNDE LICENCIADOS
DE FILADELFIA

Servicio De Referencia E Información Legal
1101 Market Street, 11th Floor
Filadelfia, Pennsylvania 19107

(215) 238-1701 Case ID: 220902647

Filed and Attested by the
Office of Judicial Records 

27 SEP 2022 03:57 pm
I. LOWELL



Andrew B. Austin, Esq.
Pennsylvania Bar # 323768
Attorney for Plaintiffs

P.O. Box # 54628
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 19148
+1 (610) 656-1956
austin@stackhousegroup.com

Gun Owners of America Inc.,Gun
Owners Foundation, Terrence Ledwell,
Laura Leonard-McBride, and
James Sandefur,

Plaintiff(s);

COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
PHILADELPHIA COUNTY

September Term, 2022
No.

vs.

City of Philadelphia, and
Mayor James F.Kenney,

Defendant(s).

COMPLAINT

Pennsylvania lawexpressly preempts theMayor frombanning firearms in public recre-

ational facilities. Nonethless, Mayor Jim Kenney has attempted to do so. He may not.

Pennsylvania law is “crystal clear”: regulation of firearms is a matter of statewide con-

cern, and must be undertaken by the General Assembly. See National Rifle Ass’n v. City of

Philadelphia, 977 A.2d 78, 82 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2009). Mayor James Kenney is not permitted to

regulate firarms by executive fiat, as he attempts here.

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Gun Owners of America, Inc. (“GOA”) is a California non-stock corporation

with its principal place of business at 8001 Forbes Pl., Springfield, Virginia. GOA is orga-
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nized and operated as a non-profit membership organization exempt from federal income

taxes under the 26 U.S.C. § 501 (c) (4). GOA was incorporated in 1976 to preserve, protect,

and defend the Second Amendment rights of gun owners. GOA has thousands of members

and supporters, including residents of the City of Philadelphia, who possess Pennsylvania

License(s) to Carry Firearms and wish to exercise their right to lawfully possess firearms at

recreational facilities.

2. Plaintiff Gun Owners Foundation (“GOF”) is a Virginia non-stock corporation with its

principal place of business in Virginia, at 8001 Forbes Place, Springfield, VA 22151. GOF is

organized and operated as a nonprofit legal defense and educational foundation that is ex-

empt from federal income taxes under 26U.S.C. § 501 (c) (3). GOF is supported by gunown-

ers across the country, including Philadelphia residents who are being irreparably harmed

by the challenged ordinance. GOF routinely litigates across the country to defend its sup-

porters’ right to keep and bear arms.

3. Plaintiff TerrenceLedwell is an adult individual and resident of Philadelphia. He has a valid

Pennsylvania License to Carry Firearms and both has– and intends to– carry in recreational

facilities operated by the City of Philadelphia.

4. Plaintiff Laura Leonard-McBride is an adult individual and resident of Philadelphia. She

has a valid Pennsylvania License to Carry Firearms and both has– and intends to– carry in

recreational facilities operated by the City of Philadelphia.

5. Plaintiff John Sandefur is an adult individual and resident of Philadelphia. He has a valid

Pennsylvania License to Carry Firearms and both has– and intends to– carry in recreational

facilities operated by the City of Philadelphia.
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6. Defendant City of Philadelphia, is a Municipal Corporation of the First Class of the Com-

monwealth of Pennsylvania under the First Class City Home Rule Act of April 21st, 1949,

P.L. 665, § 1 et seq.

7. DefendantMayor JamesF.Kenney, named in his official capacity as theMayor of theCity of

Philadelphia, entered an executive order on September 27th 2022 purporting to ban firearms

from city park facilities. Mayor Kenney’s principal office is City Hall # 215, Philadelphia,

PA 19107.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

8. This Court has unlimited original jurisdiction, and venue is proper as the Defendants are

a municipality– and public employee acting in their official capacity– within this judicial

district. 42 Pa. C.S. § 931, Pa. R.C.P. 1006 (a) and 2103 (b).

9. Both the City of Philadelphia and Mayor Kenney are further subject to the personal juris-

diction of this Court, as they are located in – or reside within– the Commonwealth of Penn-

sylvania.

ALLEGATIONS

10. Pennsylvania Law provides “[n]o county, municipality or township may in any manner reg-

ulate the lawful ownership, possession, transfer or transportation of firearms….” FOAC v.

Lower Merion Twp., 151 A.3d 1172, 1176 (Pa. Cmwlth. 2016) (quoting 18 Pa. C.S. § 6120).

11. Nonetheless, on September 27th 2022, Mayor Kenney issued an Executive Order # 4-22,

which prohibits any person carrying firearms from“enter[ing] or remain in or on any indoor
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or outdoor recreational premises operated by the Department of Parks and Recreation [],

including any recreation center, ballfield, court, playground, pool, tot lot, or similar facility,

but excluding park trails and passive park space.” (Exhibit A).

12. Individuals with a valid Pennsylvania License to Carry Firearms are permitted to carry

firearms either openly– or concealed– throughout the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

18 Pa. C.S. § 6109. The General Assembly expressly provided that a person “licensed to

carry a firearm” is permitted to carry “upon any public property in a city of the first class”.

Id . § 6108.

13. It is “crystal clear” that only the General Assembly is permitted to regulate firearms. See

Nat’l. RifleAss’n., 977A.2d at 82. Further, in 2016, theCommonwealthCourt also explicitly

struck similar restrictions on carry at public parks due to Pennsylvania’s firearms preemp-

tion statute. See Lower Merion Twp., 151 A.3d 1172.

14. The Mayor’s September 27th Executive Order directly regulates the lawful possession of

firearms in violation of § 6120 (a).

15. Therefore, the September 27th Executive Order violates Pennsylvania’s firearms preemp-

tion statutes and may not be enforced. See 18 Pa. C.S. § 6120.
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LEGAL COUNTS

Count # 1
Violation of Pennsylvania’s Firearms Preemption

Id

16. Plaintiffs incorporates by reference ¶¶ 1–15 above as if fully set forth herein.

17. Plaintiffs seek a Declaratory Judgment pursuant to 42 Pa. C.S. §§ 7351 et seq. that the Exec-

utive Order (# 4-22) signed by Mayor James Kenney on September 27th 2022 is unlawful.

18. Section 6120 (a) preempts the City of Philadelphia and Mayor Jim Kenney from regulation

of lawful possession of firearms; Executive Order # 4-22 directly regulates the lawful pos-

session of firearms.

19. The City of Philadelphia and Mayor Kenney’s enactment of the September 27th 2022 Ex-

ecutive Order directly violates Pennsylvania law, and may not be enforced.
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RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs ask this Court to find Mayor Jim Kenney’s and the City of

Philadelphia’s September 27th 2022 Executive Order # 4-22 is pre-empted by 18 Pa. C.S.

§ 6120, and enter a preliminary and permanent injunction against the City of Philadelphia

from enforcing any prohibition of firearms at City facilities in violation of Pennsylvania’s

firearms preemption statute, award costs, and any such other relief as this Court may find

just and proper.

Respectfully Submitted,

Andrew B. Austin, Esq.
Pennsylvania Bar # 323768
Attorney for Plaintiffs

P.O. Box # 54628
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 19148
+1 (610) 656-1956
austin@stackhousegroup.com
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EXHIBIT A
Mayor Jim Kenney’s Executive Order # 4-22

retrieved from www.phila.gov/media/20220927104203/Executive-Order
-2022-04.pdf
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Exhibit A 8
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Exhibit A 9
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Exhibit A 10
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Exhibit A 11
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Exhibit A 12
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Exhibit A 13
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Exhibit A 15
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Exhibit A 16

Case ID: 220902647



Exhibit A 17
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Exhibit A 18
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VERIFICATION OF VAL W. FINNELL 

I, Val W. Finnell, hereby state that I am Pennsylvania Director of Gun Owners of Amer-
ica, Inc, an organizational plaintiff in this action, and declare as follows: I have reviewed this 
Complaint, and all statements and information contained within are true and correct to the 
best of my knowledge, information, and belief. Further, I understand that the statements 
in this Complaint are subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. § 4904 (relating to unswom 
falsification to authorities). 

Val W. Finnell 
Pennsylvania Director 
Gun Owners of America, Inc. 

DATED. 7/o 
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